
Members are summoned to attend this meeting 
Kim Wright 
Chief Executive 
Laurence House 
Catford 
London SE6 4RU 
Date: 26 September 2022 

 

   

The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however occasionally committees may have to consider some 
business in private.  Copies of reports can be made available in additional formats on request. 

 

AGENDA 
 

HEALTH AND SAFETY 
COMMITTEE 

 

Date: TUESDAY, 4 OCTOBER 2022 at 5.00 pm 

Committee Room 3 
Civic Suite 
London SE6 4RU 

Enquiries to: Clare Weaser 
Telephone: 0208 314 7369 (direct line) 
Email: clare.weaser@lewisham.gov.uk 

 

 

COUNCILLORS 
 
Councillor Laura Cunningham (Chair) 
Councillor Chris Best 
Councillor Paul Bell 
Councillor Laura Cunningham 
Councillor Stephen Hayes 
Councillor Aisha Malik-Smith 
Councillor Aliya Sheikh 
 

Unions 
  
 UNITE 
 GMB 
 NEU  
 UNISON 
 
 
Health & Safety Advisors 
  
Rich Clarke – Head of Assurance 
Catherine Mbema – Director of Public 
Health 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 
 

 

The public are welcome to attend our Committee meetings, however, occasionally, committees may have to 
consider some business in private.  Copies of reports can be made available in additional formats on request. 
 

 

 

 ORDER OF BUSINESS – PART 1 AGENDA  

 

Item 
No 

 Page 
No.s 

1.   Minutes 
 

1 - 5 

2.   Declaration of Interest 
 

6 - 9 

3.   Corporate Health  Safety Team Update 
 

10 - 14 

4.   Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate Internal Audit Progress 
Update 
 

15 - 40 

   



 

 

Health and Safety Committee 

 

That the Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Safety Committee, held on 4 
November 2019 be confirmed and signed.   

 

 

Minutes 

Date: 4 October 2022 

Key decision: No  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Chief Executive 

Outline and recommendations 

Members are asked to consider the Minutes of the meeting of the Health and 
Safety Committee, held on 4 November 2019. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



 

 

 1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the HEALTH AND SAFETY COMMITTEE, which was 
open to the press and public, held in Committee Room 3 Civic Suite Catford Road, 
Catford SE6 4RU on Monday 4 November 2019 at 6.15 p.m. 
 

Present 
 
Councillors Best, Hall, and Millbank. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Kalu and Kelleher. 
 
Unions 
 
Kim Knappett – NEU  
 
Health & Safety Adviser 
 
David Austin - Acting Chief Finance Officer. 
Chris Damri – Asset Management 
 
Minute No.  Action 

   
         Election of Chair  

 
In the absence of the Chair it was; 
 
RESOLVED     that Councillor Millbank be elected Chair for 

the meeting. 
. 

  

2 Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 None. 
 

 

3. Corporate Health and Safety Team Update 
 

         
         

3.1 
 
 
 
 
 

3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mr Austin presented the report. He said that the Health and 
Safety Board met a week ago. The main topics for 
discussion were Beckenham Place Park, an incident 
involving a Council tree falling and progress works regarding 
fire risk.  
 
Mr Austin introduced Mr Damri who leads the asset 
management team. He was in attendance because this 
Committee had previously identified asbestos as one of the 
main topics for discussion. Members asked for more 
information about the risk of asbestos and how it is 
managed. He said that there is an asbestos register but it is 
not available as a single document; asbestos registers are 
held individually on all council buildings  
 

  
 
 
 
 
           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



 

 

 2 

 
 
 

3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

At 6.30pm, Councillor Hall arrived and the meeting became 
quorate. 
 
Mr Damri said that in the past, asbestos was used widely in 
construction. Its use was restricted in the 80’s and 90’s and 
abolished from March 1999. Lewisham’s building stock is 
very likely to contain asbestos. It was used because it has 
many good qualities; it is strong, good for insulating and 
cannot be dissolved by water or chemicals. It was used in a 
lot of products. 
 
The only way to identify asbestos is through a survey and 
Lewisham employ external people to identify it. The HSE 
have replaced the type 1 and type 2 survey with R and D 
survey which is intrusive. An action plan may recommend 
removal of asbestos even if it is dangerous but usually the 
recommendation is to leave it and encapsulate it. 
 
Mr Damri confirmed that there is not one asbestos register, 
this information is kept separately for each individual 
building corporately. The documents are large but this 
information could be printed out for each building if 
requested. The information in each document explains how 
the asbestos should be treated. When asbestos is found it 
triggers certain action. If the information does not cover all 
the building, an additional survey will be undertaken in that 
area. 
 
Councillor Best referred to remedial works at the Sydenham 
Centre. She asked what prompted this action. Mr Damri 
explained the action that would have been taken if asbestos 
had been identified but he did not know the reasons for the 
works at the Sydenham Centre. He agreed to investigate 
the matter and advise Councillor Best accordingly. 
Councillor Best said that because of the pre-election period, 
the assembly meeting to have been held on 7 November 
had been cancelled. It was hoped that the meeting could be 
re-arranged in January if the Centre is open. 
 
Councillor Hall said that the presence of asbestos had been 
focussed on buildings, but asbestos could be anywhere. He 
said that local residents were concerned about asbestos 
found in soil in Beckenham Place Park. There were claims 
that it had been floating in the air. He asked what action had 
been taken by officers. Mr Damri said that asbestos occurs 
naturally in the ground and could have been buried or 
occurred naturally. He said that fibre release is less likely 
than in other contexts. It is highly unlikely that there will be 
fibre release from asbestos that has been buried in the park 
because it will have been contained in the soil, and will 
probably be wet. If asbestos is identified, it must be 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CD 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



 

 

 3 

 
 
 

3.8 
 
 
 

3.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.12 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.13 
 
 
 
 
 

dampened down to prevent fibres escaping into the air and 
the area should be cordon off.  
 
Councillor Hall asked for a more detailed explanation of how 
asbestos was managed in Beckenham Place Park, 
particularly in the light of public interest. 
  
Councillor Hall referred to paragraph 5.5 in the agenda and 
the management of asbestos risk on the Excalibur Estate. It 
refers to ‘they will have taken the necessary steps to remove 
the asbestos safely. Councillor Hall said that this reference 
does not make it clear whether the necessary steps were 
taken. He asked who inspects asbestos works when it has 
been completed. Mr Austin said that the duty is on the 
contractor who will have had to show that they have the 
experience to undertake the work. 
 
Councillor Millbank asked how members can be sure that 
asbestos works have been checked. Mr Damri said site 
inspections will reveal whether the contractor is working in 
accordance with method statements. The HSE do not 
routinely inspect works. Site inspectors ensure that works 
have been undertaken in accordance with best practice. Mr 
Austin advised members that a report on contamination 
Funds was submitted to Mayor and Cabinet on 24 April 
2019. It was agreed that this report be circulated to all 
members of this Committee for information.  
 
Councillor Hall said that there have been complaints about 
the management of asbestos in Beckenham Place Park and 
on the Excalibur estate. He said that these complaints would 
have been directed to the responsible directorate. Mr Damri 
said that he is responsible for facilities management, and if 
a complaint was received from a member of the public 
stating that a contractor was not working in a professional 
manner in the management of asbestos, a member of his 
team would go to the site to investigate.  
 
Mr Damri confirmed that each building has its own asbestos 
register. These documents are kept centrally and if 
members request a copy of a register for any building, 
officers will send it to them. 
 
Incident in Beckenham Place Park 
 
Councillor Best referred to paragraph 4.2 and the incident 
that took place in Beckenham Place Park. It was a serious 
incident and she would have expected to see more details 
of the events that took place. In future, she asked for more 
details to be submitted to this Committee when reporting 
serious events. Mr Austin agreed to undertake this in future.  

 
 
 
 
CD 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CW 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       
 
 
 
 
 
D.A 
 

Page 4



 

 

 4 

 
3.14 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
3.15 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3.16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. 

 
Mr Austin said that an update had been received from Mr 
Murray about the incident in the Park along with information 
about where the investigation had progressed to. A report, 
with recommendations, will be submitted to the next meeting 
of the Health and Safety Board, in January 2020 and it was 
agreed that a copy will also be submitted to the next 
meeting of this Committee. 
 
Mr Austin referred to the incident in Beckenham Place Park. 
He said that if there is to be a change around the regime for 
fencing, swimming and opening times, a report will need to 
be produced to identify money for the works. 
 
Progress works regarding fire risk.  
 
Mr Austin said that with regard to fire risk, officers are on 
track for remedial works. These works followed the serious 
blaze in flats in Barking and Dagenham. The flats had 
wooden balconies. Lewisham have identified some flats in 
the borough that also have wooden balconies and works 
were being planned to replace them.  
 
Collapse of a Council Tree onto the Road 
 
Mr Austin said that a tree fell in a Council cemetery. A 
previous inspection of the tree recommended a further 
inspection within three years. The tree fell within two years. 
Officers are considering this incident and whether there 
should be any changes to current practices. The incident 
was referred to the HSE and the insurance risk is being 
considered. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be noted and the request for 
further information be actioned. 
 
Minutes 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Health and Safety 
Committee held on 10 June 2019 be confirmed and signed. 

 
 
 
 
 
DA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 6.50 pm. 
 
 
 

                                                     Chair 
 

Page 5



 

 

Health and Safety Committee 

 

1. Summary 

1.1. Members must declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda. There 
are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member Code of 
Conduct: 

(1)  Disclosable pecuniary interests 

(2)  Other registerable interests 

(3)  Non-registerable interests. 

1.2. Further information on these is provided in the body of this report. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1. Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the 
agenda. 

Declarations of Interest 

Date: 4 October 2022 

Key decision: No  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Chief Executive  

Outline and recommendations 

Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda. 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



  

3. Disclosable pecuniary interests  

3.1 These are defined by regulation as: 

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or gain 

(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than by the 
Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the register in 
respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member or towards 
your election expenses (including payment or financial benefit  from a Trade 
Union). 

(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they are a 
partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, services or works. 

(d)  Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 

(e)  Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 

(f)   Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 
Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which 
they have a beneficial interest.   

(g)   Beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 

(a)  that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land in the 
borough; and  

(b)  either: 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or 

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person* 
has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued share capital of 
that class. 

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person 
with whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

4. Other registerable interests 

4.1 The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the following 
interests: 

(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you were 
appointed or nominated by the Council 

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 
purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or 
policy, including any political party 

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 
value of at least £25. 

Page 7



  

5. Non registerable interests 

5.1. Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely to 
affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more than it 
would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is not required 
to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a matter concerning 
the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

6. Declaration and impact of interest on members’ participation 

6.1. Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are present at a 
meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must declare the nature of the 
interest at the earliest opportunity and in any event before the matter is considered. The 
declaration will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and 
withdraw from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to 
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest which has not 
already been entered in the Register of Members’ Interests, or participation where 
such an interest exists, is liable to prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of 
up to £5000  
 

6.2. Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest they must still declare the nature of the interest to the meeting at the earliest 
opportunity and in any event before the matter is considered, but they may stay in the 
room, participate in consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph 6.3 
below applies. 

6.3. Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, the member must consider whether a reasonable member of the public in 
possession of the facts would think that their interest is so significant that it would be 
likely to impair the member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must 
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to influence the 
outcome improperly. 

6.4. If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a member, their, 
family, friend or close associate more than it would affect those in the local area 
generally, then the provisions relating to the declarations of interest and withdrawal apply 
as if it were a registerable interest.   

6.5. Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s personal judgement, 
though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

7. Sensitive information  

7.1. There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not be 
registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and advised to seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

8.  Exempt categories 

8.1. There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in decisions 
notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. These include:- 

(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter relates 
to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 

(b)  School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent or 

Page 8



  

guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless the matter 
relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which you are a 
governor 

(c)   Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 

(d)   Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  

(e)  Ceremonial honours for members 

(f)   Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception). 

Page 9



 

 

Health & Safety Committee 

 

1. Summary 

1.1. The report includes an overview of how the Council discharges its responsibilities, in 
particular documenting the relevant governance structure.  

1.2. The report summarises relevant matters raised at the Corporate Health & Safety 
Board, including most recent accident and incident statistics. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. We ask that Members note and comment on the report.  

3. Policy Context 

3.1. The Council has various legal, regulatory and ethical responsibilities in ensuring the 
continuing health and safety of all those to whom it owes a duty of care. The work of 
this Committee in general helps to ensure the Council meets its responsibilities, 
especially to non-domestic service users. This report contributes to the Committee’s 
understanding of health & safety governance at the Council and so aids in the effective 
completion of its responsibilities. 

  

Corporate Health & Safety Team Update 

Date: 4 October 2022 

Key decision: No  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Rich Clarke, Head of Assurance 

Outline and recommendations 

This report provides context and background to the refreshed Health & Safety Committee. It 
gives some background on the operation of Health & Safety roles at the Council, and the 
Committees responsibilities. It also includes relevant incident statistics. 

We ask Members to note the report. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

4. Background  

4.1. The Council has responsibilities under, among other legislation, the Health and Safety 
at Work Act 1974. This directs that the Council has a general duty to ensure, so far as 
is reasonably practical, the health, safety and welfare at work of all its employees. The 
Act also formalises the Council’s duty of care towards those it does not employ but still 
use its (non-domestic) premises. 

4.2. The Council’s duties as an employer are led by the Chief Executive as overall 
Responsible Person. Specific day-to-day discharge of responsibilities rests with 
managers across the Council, who we expect to understand and live up to the 
Council’s commitments on safeguarding the health and welfare of its employees.  

4.3. Managers are supported in fulfiling that responsibility by the Council’s Corporate Health 
& Safety Team. This team comprises five individuals: an overall Manager, a Risk & 
Compliance Officer, an Administrator and two compliance officers who lead principally 
on building and mechanical compliance. The post of Manager, hitherto filled by a 
temporary agency employee, has recently seen permanent recruitment. The new 
Health & Safety Manager will be joining the Council later this month. The team is part 
of the Council’s Assurance Division alongside Internal Audit, Counter Fraud, Insurance 
and Risk Management. 

4.4. The responsibilities are overseen by a network of Directorate-Level Health & Safety 
Boards reporting to an overall Corporate Board. In its broader assurance 
arrangements, the Council also has an Assurance Board, plus this Committee. The 
diagram below summarises: 

 

Figure 1: Health & Safety Governance Structure, Lewisham Council 

4.5. Schools and Lewisham Homes have individual arrangements for meeting their 
responsibilities with an evolving relationship into the Corporate Health & Safety Board. 
The Corporate Health and Safety Team have various advisory and administrative roles 
supporting the entire process. 

4.6. There is Trade Union representation at each Directorate Health & Safety Board. There 
is also a parallel Union-focused meeting immediately following each Corporate Health 
& Safety Board. The Boards meet quarterly and keep minutes, papers and actions in 
dedicated MS Teams sites. 

Page 11

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

5. Matters Raised At Corporate Health & Safety Board 

5.1. The most recent Board meeting was on 12 July 2022 and the next is on 20 October. 
Unfortunately the scheduling of this first Committee meeting has made reporting is 
slightly out of sequence. However, future Committee meetings are timed to closely 
follow when the Board meets to ensure information currency.  

5.2. The Board’s agenda included the following items:  

 HR Report on Occupational Health & Welfare 

 Facilities Management Update, including compliance report on the corporate 
estate. 

 Feedback and actions from each Directorate meeting. 

 Statutory compliance report and incident reporting summary provided by the 
Corporate Health & Safety team. 

5.3. Items of particular relevance to Members of the Public and their use of Council facilities 
and premises: 

 Lewisham Library Fire Brigade Audit. Summary of an audit conducted by 
London Fire Brigade (LFB) inspectors on 13 June 2022. The report to the Board 
confirmed all necessary remedial work identified by the LFB had been 
completed. We are awaiting a mutually agreeable date with the LFB to discuss 
their comments about Fire Risk Assessments to ensure we have a full 
understanding of requirements we can then deploy across the estate. 

 In all other public access buildings internal compliance checks were up to 
date and remedial actions completed. This routine audit involved 55 building 
checks (28 fire assessments, 5 water storage assessments and 22 asbestos  

6. Incidents 

6.1. The Board (and relevant Directorates) also received information on reported incidents 
and change year-on-year. The table below summarises: 

Directorate Year to 30 
Jun 21 

Year to 30 
June 22 

Change (%) 

Chief Executive’s 2 0 -2 (-100%) 

Children & Young People (excl Schools) 9 5 -4 (-44%) 

Schools 1,126 1,329 203 (18%) 

Community Services 64 52 -12 (-19%) 

Corporate Resources 37 91 54 (146%) 

Housing, Regeneration & Public Realm 95 36 -59 (-62%) 

Total 1,333 1,513 180 (14%) 

 

6.2. Note that the year-to-year variances in Corporate Resources and Housing, 
Regeneration & Public Realm result in large part from the transfer between directorates 
of the Council’s Passenger Transport Service. This service alone reported 53 incidents 
in the year to 30 June 2022.  

  

Page 12

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

6.3. The more serious incidents are known as ‘RIDDOR’ incidents. These are those with 
required reporting to the Health & Safety Executive under the Reporting of Injuries, 
Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013. The number and nature of 
such incidents in the quarter to 30 June 2022 is set out in the table below. For 
comparison, there were 29 such incidents in the quarter to 30 June 2021. 

RIDDOR Category CED CYP School COM COR HRPR 

Dangerous Occurrence 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Major Injury or Condition 0 0 10 0 0 0 

Member of Public to Hospital 0 0 2 0 0 0 

>7 Day Absence 0 0 1 0 1 0 

Pupil to Hospital 0 0 13 0 0 0 

Prescribed Disease 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Totals 0 0 26 0 1 0 

 

6.4. The most serious incidents involved fractures arising from falls or slips and trips. The 
incidents involving pupils almost all arose around playtimes or organised sporting 
activity. The Council documents all RIDDOR incidents and investigates as appropriate. 
There is, to the best of our knowledge, no external agency involvement in any of these 
incidents.  

7. Financial implications  

7.1. The report is to note. There are no financial implications arising from the 
recommendations.  

8. Legal implications 

8.1. The report is to note. There are no legal implications arising from the 
recommendations.  

9. Equalities implications 

9.1. The report is to note. There are no equalities implications arising from the 
recommendations.  

10. Climate change and environmental implications 

10.1. The report is to note. There are no climate change and environmental implications 
arising from the recommendations.  

11. Crime and disorder implications 

11.1. The report is to note. There are no crime and disorder implications arising from the 
recommendations.  

12. Health and wellbeing implications  

12.1. The report is to note. There are no health and wellbeing implications arising from the 
recommendations.  

Page 13

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

13. Background papers 

13.1. No background papers. 

14. Report author and contact 

14.1. Rich Clarke, Head of Assurance. rich.clarke@lewisham.gov.uk. Telephone (020) 8314 
8730 (ext. 48730). 

Page 14

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
mailto:rich.clarke@lewisham.gov.uk


 

 

Health & Safety Committee 

 

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

December 2021 to January 2022: Audit Fieldwork 
1 February 2022: Draft Audit Report published 
25 March 2022: Final Audit Report published 

1. Summary 

1.1. As part of the routine audit plan, Internal Audit examined the Council’s corporate 
Health & Safety controls in late 2021. That review, published as final in March 2022, 
gave a ‘Limited’ assurance rating. This is an adverse rating, indicating insufficient 
controls in place and, where present, inconsistently applied.  

1.2. A few months after the report was published, responsibility for the Health & Safety 
team passed to the Head of Assurance. Since then, among other tasks, the Team has 
been working to address the deficiencies highlighted in the audit report. 

1.3. This paper summarises progress so far and planned next steps. We present it to 
Members to give an overview of arrangements and their development. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. Comment on the report and note progress towards completing remedial actions.  

Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate: Internal Audit 
Progress Update 

Date: 4 October 2022 

Key decision: No  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Rich Clarke, Head of Assurance 

Outline and recommendations 

In the early months of 2022 the Council’s Internal Audit service undertook a review of 
Corporate Health & Safety. That review concluded with ‘Limited’ Assurance and raised a 
number of high priority findings demanding swift remedial action. This paper summarises 
progress made towards implementing those remedial actions. 

We ask Members to comment on the report and note progress. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

3. Policy Context 

3.1. The Council has various legal, regulatory and ethical responsibilities in ensuring the 
continuing health and safety of all those to whom it owes a duty of care. The work of 
this Committee in general helps to ensure the Council meets its responsibilities, 
especially to non-domestic service users. This report contributes to the Committee’s 
understanding of health & safety governance at the Council and so aids in the effective 
completion of its responsibilities. 

4. Background  

4.1. An engagement on the Internal Audit Plan agreed by the Audit Panel in June 2021 was 
to examine controls for ensuring the Council meets its health and safety responsibilities 
on its corporate estate. The full title on the plan was Review of compliance team’s 
arrangements for health & safety checking of the corporate estate and was budgeted to 
take 10 audit days during Quarter 2.  

4.2. The final engagement took the title Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate 
reflecting internal changes as responsibility moved from a Compliance Team to an 
expanded Health & Safety team. Owing to delays in concluding 2020/21 work it did not 
begin until Quarter 3. The audit also took more than 30 days, once the scale of work 
required to organise, understand and test the arrangements in place became clear. 

4.3. The audit engagement concluded at the controls offer only Limited assurance. The full 
definition of ‘limited’ is: “There are insufficient controls in place. This increases the 
likelihood of the service area not achieving its objectives. Where controls do exist they 
are not consistently applied”. For context, this was one of five limited assurance 
engagements published in 2021/22, compared to 26 ‘satisfactory’ and 6 ‘substantial’ 
assurance.  

5. Internal Audit Findings 

5.1. The full audit report is at Appendix A. It drew out 7 principal findings, 2 at ‘high’ severity 
level and 5 at ‘medium’ severity. The table below summarises: 

High Severity Findings 

The last full Health & Safety audit programme [intended as an annual process] took 
place in 2018/19. On property compliance checks, almost a third were overdue. 

The Corporate Health & Safety Board and Member Committee had both effectively 
stopped during Covid and not re-started. 

Medium Severity Findings 

Key Health & Safety policies and procedures were significantly out of date. The 
absestos, fire and water system policies were dated 2018 but had never received 
formal approval, meaning that the ‘formal’ policies dated from 2011. A smaller 
proportion of supporting risk and control procedures lacked recent review. 

Terms of reference for Directorate health & safety committees were in significant 
need of review, being static since 2017. There was also no committee supporting the 
Chief Executive’s Directorate. 

Remedial actions were left unreported and unactioned from some Water Systems 
risk assessments, notably at Evelyn Community Centre. 

The standard compliance check instruction was missing some required elements, for 
example first aid arrangements, leaving them unchecked. 

The service did not retain evidence that remedial actions were completed. 

Page 16

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s81358/Audit%20Plan%2021-22%20and%20Progress%20Report%20Jun%2021%20v4.pdf


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

5.2. In the report, these findings prompted a range of remedial actions. The table below lists 
those actions including due dates and a note on the current status (note that some 
actions are abbreviated here from the full description in the report).  

Ref Action Due Dates 

(Original & 
Current) 

Position 

01.1 Create and maintain a H&S policy register 31/05/22  

01.2 Approve and publish revised Asbestos, Fire and 
Water Systems Management policies. 

31/05/22 

(31/01/23) 

See 5.3 

01.3 Update management procedures published on the 
Council’s intranet 

31/05/22  

01.4 Consider consolidating policies into a single 
document. 

30/06/22 

(31/01/23) 

See 5.3 

02.1 Revise terms of reference for Directorate H&S 
Committees 

30/04/22  

02.5 Create a H&S Committee for the Chief Executive’s 
Directorate 

30/04/22  

03.1 Document review of water risk assessment 
remedial actions tracker 

31/05/22  

03.2 Carry out remedial actions at Evelyn Community 
Centre risk assessment. 

31/03/22  

04.1 Develop H&S audit programme following 
completion of service self-assessments. 

30/06/22 

(31/12/22) 

See 5.4 

04.2 Complete compliance checks on high risk 
properties. 

31/03/22  

05.1 Add glazing and signage risks to statutory 
compliance inspections 

31/07/22  

05.2 Revise standard checklist for property compliance 
checks. 

31/03/22  

05.3 Update management procedure with property 
related risks. 

31/05/22  

06.1 Document correspondence on communicating 
remedial actions arising from compliance checks. 

31/03/22  

06.2 Agree procedures for escalating non-cooperation 
with compliance checks. 

30/04/22  

07.1 Add meetings of H&S Committee 30/04/22  

07.2 Retain minutes of H&S Board 31/03/22  

07.3 Retain minutes of Directorate H&S Committees 30/04/22  

07.4 Document attendance and review of action trackers 
on minutes. 

30/04/22  

Page 17

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Ref Action Due Dates 

(Original & 
Current) 

Position 

07.6 Retain minutes and papers within the Corporate 
H&S team 

30/04/22  

07.7 Report conclusion of the audit programme to the 
H&S Board 

31/01/23 

(30/06/23) 

See 5.4 

07.8 Commission external audit on British Standard 
compliance 

30/04/22 

(N/A) 

See 5.5 

 

5.3. After a little delay caused by the need to tweak roles and responsibilities to reflect the 
changing position of the Health & Safety team in the organisation, drafts for all these 
policies now exist. They are currently being reviewed by the Head of Assurance and, in 
consultation with the Executive Director of Corporate Resources (who Chairs the 
Corporate Health & Safety Board) are likely to go to that Board’s January meeting for 
approval. It is unlikely we will be able to consolidate the documents given the differing 
legal regimes and roles, but will review that option once we have approved indivdiual 
drafts. 

5.4. The first stage of developing the audit programme was asking individual services to 
complete a self-assessment. These were circulated in April with an original due date of 
the end of May. Currently around a third of self-assessments are still outstanding. Over 
the autumn the Health & Safety team will reach out to those services offering additional 
support to complete their assessments, including escalating to Management Team 
where difficulties exist. Our aim is to have a complete set by the end of the year to 
allow development of an audit programme that the January Corporate Health & Safety 
Board can review. We would then aim to being the audit programme at the start of 
2023 and report progress regularly thereafter. 

5.5. The audit report specifically mentioned British Standard OHSAS 18001. However, the 
use of this standard is being phased out and replaced with an international standard, 
ISO 45001. We would need to assess the differing obligations of the new standard and 
consider carefully whether the additional costs necessary to achieve external 
accreditation are worthwhile. This consideration is especially acute given the Council’s 
wider financial circumstances. As such, we have agreed with the audit team to remove 
this from the list of actions to be followed up. 

6. Financial implications  

6.1. The report is to note. There are no financial implications arising from the 
recommendations.  

7. Legal implications 

7.1. The report is to note. There are no legal implications arising from the 
recommendations.  

8. Equalities implications 

8.1. The report is to note. There are no equalities implications arising from the 
recommendations.  

Page 18

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

9. Climate change and environmental implications 

9.1. The report is to note. There are no climate change and environmental implications 
arising from the recommendations.  

10. Crime and disorder implications 

10.1. The report is to note. There are no crime and disorder implications arising from the 
recommendations.  

11. Health and wellbeing implications  

11.1. The report is to note. There are no health and wellbeing implications arising from the 
recommendations.  

12. Background papers 

12.1. Appendix A – Final Internal Audit Report in full, as published. 

13. Report author and contact 

13.1. Rich Clarke, Head of Assurance. rich.clarke@lewisham.gov.uk. Telephone (020) 8314 
8730 (ext. 48730). 

Page 19

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
mailto:rich.clarke@lewisham.gov.uk


 

1 
 

Report No. 2021/22-29 

  

Health & Safety Checks for 

the Corporate Estate    

 

Final Report 

 

Corporate Resources (COR)  

Overall Audit Opinion - Limited 
      

 Process Areas & Finding Priority Levels High Medium Low 

 1. Governance 0 

 

2 

 

0 

 

 2. Compliance with Health & Safety Regulations 

and Managing Risks 

0 

 

1 

 

0 

 

 3. Monitoring of H&S Compliance and Review of 

Controls  

1 

 

2 

 

0 

 

 4. Monitoring and Reporting 1 

 

0 

 

0 

 

Total 2 5 0 

 

Auditor - Martin Doyle, Principal Auditor 

Audit Reviewer – Christine Webster, Interim Head of Audit 

Issue Date - 25/03/22 

  

Page 20



 

2 
 

Distribution 

Corporate Health & Safety Team Manager - Audit 

Sponsor  

Paul Innaurato Draft & 

Final 

 Head of Benefits – Chair of Corporate Resources Joint 

Consultative Committee (JCC) 
Mick Lear 

Director of Public Health – Chair of Community 

Services JCC 

Catherine Mbema 

Director of Public Realm – Chair of Housing, 

Regeneration and Public Realm JCC 

Zahur Khan 

Head of Business Infrastructure, Compliance and 

Education Operations - Chair of CYP Non-schools JCC 
Matthew Henaughan 

Executive Support Manager - Corporate Resources Charmaine Townsend 

Director for Director of Resident & Business Services Maxine Gordon 

Executive Director for Corporate Resources Kathy Freeman 

Head of Facilities Management Brian Colyer Final 

Only 
External Audit Grant Thornton 

 

Key Dates  

Terms of Reference  03/12/21 

Start of Fieldwork 03/12/21 

End of Fieldwork 17/01/22 

Exit Meeting 17/01/22 

Draft Report  01/02/22 

Management Agreement 11/03/22 

Final Report 25/03/22 

 

Contact Details 

Rich Clarke    Head of Assurance   020 8314 8730 

Martin Doyle    Principal Auditor   020 8314 9440 

 

Page 21

mailto:rich.clarke@lewisham.gov.uk?subject=Internal%20Audit%20Report%20Feedback
mailto:martin.doyle@lewisham.gov.uk?subject=Internal%20Audit%20Report%20Feedback


Executive Summary 
 

3 
 

1. Introduction 

The Terms of Reference at the end of this report set out the audit background and service 

objectives.  We report by exception.  This means we have only detailed areas that would 

benefit from management action to improve internal control.  

2. Assurance Opinion and Findings 

Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate has an assurance rating of Limited. 

Our findings, divided by priority category, are as follows:  

 2 High priority findings, 

 5 Medium priority findings, and 

 0 Low priority findings. 

3. High and Medium Priority Findings *indicates recurring finding 

 Self-assessment and full audits of service teams are required to be carried out annually, 

however, it was identified that due to the COVID-19 pandemic the most recently 

completed health and safety (H&S) audit programme was for the year 2018/19. In 

addition, it was identified for two quarters where H&S compliance checks could not be 

carried out for all operational properties in the corporate estate due to staff shortage, 

that compliance checks were not undertaken for all high risk properties. 

 The H&S Committee is required to meet three times per year. However, the last meeting 

of the Committee was on 4 November 2019. For one meeting of the Corporate H&S 

Board and one meeting of the Corporate Resources H&S Committee, minutes of the 

meeting could not be provided. In addition, it was identified that a recent external audit 

has not been carried out, as required by procedures to monitor the Council’s H&S 

performance in respect of its selected occupational H&S standard (BS OHSAS 18001). 

 A review of the health & safety policies and procedures published on the Council's 

intranet identified that: the Asbestos Policy and Management Plan has not been 

reviewed annually as required by regulations; the Fire Safety Policy and Water Systems 

Policy have not been recently reviewed; and of the 36 management procedures and risk 

control management procedures, eight had not been reviewed within the past 12 months 

as required by procedures. 

 A review of the legionella risk assessment for five properties identified for one which was 

carried out on 28 January 2021 that the remedial actions (two high priority and one 

medium priority) from the risk assessment were not recorded on the remedial tracker. 

Therefore, it was not possible to confirm whether the remedial actions arising from the 

risk assessment had been completed or not. 

 A review of the terms of reference (ToR) for the CYP Non-Schools H&S Directorate 

Committee and Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm Directorate H&S Committee 

identified that the documents had not been reviewed within the past year, as required by 

procedures. ToR for the Corporate Resources and Community Services H&S 

Committees could not be provided. In addition, the Council's Chief Executive Directorate 

was formed in July 2020 but a H&S Committee for the Directorate has not yet been 

formed. 

Page 22



Executive Summary 

4 
 

 H&S arrangements for property related risk glazing is not checked during the quarterly 

compliance checks of corporate properties. In addition, it was identified that Compliance 

Inspectors were not checking whether premises officers / building managers were 

adhering to asbestos regulations, by ensuring that information about the location and 

condition of any asbestos was provided to every person liable to disturb it, such as 

building contractors. 

 Testing of 10 quarterly compliance checks on properties, identified that there was no 

evidence recorded on the remedial tracker that feedback of non-compliance was 

communicated to the responsible officers. In addition, it was identified that remedial 

actions had not been completed arising from compliance checks carried out on three 

properties in April 2021. 

4. Areas that worked well 

 The roles and responsibilities for H&S arrangements within the Council have been 

established, recorded and communicated. 

 Regular risk assessments are carried out for key H&S risks such as asbestos, 

electricity, fire, legionella and passenger lifts. 

 Examination of a sample of five operational properties identified for all five properties 

that the remedial actions from the most recent asbestos 10 yearly risk assessment and 

management survey, and annual asbestos condition survey were recorded on a 

remedial tracker and monitored by Compliance Inspectors as part of quarterly 

compliance checks to ensure that the remedial actions were completed in a timely 

manner. 

 A quarterly H&S report is prepared and presented at Directorate H&S Joint Consultative 

Committees. The H&S report includes items such as a summary of accidents and 

incidents along with recommendations on how to improve H&S performance. 

5. Monitoring of management actions and follow-up reviews 

Action owners should provide updates on progress with completing High or Medium priority 

agreed actions on the dedicated SharePoint site accessible at this link. For High priority 

actions, please also provide supporting evidence to show the action is complete.

Page 23

https://lewishamcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Risk/InternalAudit/LBLManagement/Lists/ActionTracking/MyActions.aspx


Findings and Management Action Plan for Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate 
2021/22-29 Audit 

5 
 

  

1 Finding - Governance  

Regular Review of Health & Safety Policies and Procedures 

The Corporate Health & Safety Team is responsible for developing and maintaining the corporate Health 

and Safety (H&S) manual (policies, procedures and guidance) identifying H&S risks and setting out the 

expected minimum H&S standards to be met in managing these risks. In order to ensure that building 

managers and service teams are applying best practice and correct H&S procedures, the H&S manual 

should be regularly reviewed and updated in accordance with timescales stipulated in regulations, codes of 

practice and procedures. In accordance with management procedures, H&S procedures are required to be 

reviewed every 12 months or sooner as required. 

In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, every business must have a policy for 

managing health and safety. The policy should cover three areas: statement of intent, responsibilities for 

H&S and arrangements for H&S. 

A review of the H&S policies and procedures published on the Council's intranet identified that: 

 The Asbestos Policy and Management Plan was last reviewed in April 2012. However, in accordance 

with the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012, Approved Code of Practice and Guidance, as a minimum 

the management plan should be reviewed every 12 months; 

 The Fire Safety Policy and Management Plan and Water Systems Policy and Management Plan have 

not been recently reviewed, the last review was in April 2008 and November 2011 respectively; 

 Of 14 management procedures, three had not been reviewed within the past 12 months. In addition, one 

management procedure (H&S Board terms of reference (ToR)) had been reviewed and agreed by the 

H&S Board in October 2021. However, the reviewed document had not been published on the intranet. 

Instead the intranet included the previous version of the ToR, reviewed in June 2019; 

 Of 20 workplace-related risk control management procedures, three had not been reviewed recently.  

 Both the H&S management risk control management procedures had not been reviewed recently. 

Discussions with the Corporate Health & Safety Team and Compliance Manager identified that: 

 The asbestos, fire and water systems policies were reviewed back in 2018 and forwarded to 

management for approval. However, due to changes in management the reviewed policies never 

received approval which is why they were not published. The three policies have been recently reviewed 

and are due to be presented at the next meeting of the Corporate Health and Safety Board in April 2022 

for their review and approval; and 

 All management procedures have been recently reviewed. However, there is a possibility that the 

reviewed procedures have not been published on the intranet. 

In addition, it was identified that a H&S Policy has been developed and published on the intranet. However, 

the policy is made up of 14 separate procedures instead of one concise overarching policy document. 

Where H&S policies are not regularly reviewed and updated or where reviewed and updated procedures are 

not published on the intranet, there is a risk that changes to legislation, approved codes of practice and 

official guidance is not promptly incorporated into H&S procedures and communicated to relevant officers. 

This could result in building managers and service teams not implementing best practice H&S arrangements 

for protecting employees, contractors and other users of Council buildings. Where the Council's H&S policy 

is made up of a large number of different management procedures instead of one concise overarching 

document, there is a risk that managers and employees may fail to locate the relevant H&S guidance. This 

may result in managers and employees failing to understand their H&S responsibilities and failing to carry 

out their lawful H&S duties. 

 

Page 24



Findings and Management Action Plan for Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate 
2021/22-29 Audit 

6 
 

Recommendation Category 

A register should be maintained of all policies, procedures, guidance and agreements 

owned by the Corporate Health and Safety Team including the date of last review, planned 

date of next review and date published on the intranet. Management should regularly 

inspect the register to ensure that it is being maintained and that documents are being 

reviewed as per the schedule. 

The revised Asbestos Policy and Management Plan, Fire Safety Policy and Management 

Plan and Water Systems Policy should be presented at the next meeting of the Corporate 

Health and Safety Board for their review and approval. Upon approval of the policies, they 

should be published on the Council's intranet. 

Recently reviewed management procedures should be published on the intranet and the 

previous version removed. 

Consider developing one concise overarching H&S policy with reference and/or links to the 

different management procedures. 

Medium 

Management Response 

Agreed 

Ref Agreed Actions Action Owner  Due date 

01.1 

 

A register will be maintained of all policies, procedures, 

guidance and agreements owned by the Corporate 

Health and Safety Team including the date of last review, 

planned date of next review and date published on the 

intranet. Management will regularly inspect the register to 

ensure that it is being maintained and that documents 

are being reviewed as per the schedule. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

31/05/22 

01.2 

 

The revised Asbestos Policy and Management Plan, Fire 

Safety Policy and Management Plan and Water Systems 

Policy will be presented at the next meeting of the 

Corporate Health and Safety Board for their review and 

approval. Upon approval of the policies, they will be 

published on the Council's intranet. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

31/05/22 

01.3 

 

Recently reviewed management procedures will be 

published on the intranet and the previous version 

removed. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

31/05/22 

01.4 

 

We will consider developing one concise overarching 

H&S policy with reference and/or links to the different 

management procedures. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

30/06/22 

  

 
  

Page 25



Findings and Management Action Plan for Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate 
2021/22-29 Audit 

7 
 

2 Finding - Governance  

Terms of Reference for Directorate H&S Committees 

Directorate H&S Joint Consultative Committees (JCC) are required to have terms of reference (ToR). The 

terms of reference should clearly set the role and responsibilities of the committee, membership, frequency 

of meetings and quorum. The ToR are required to have an annual review. 

A review of the ToRs for the CYP Non-Schools Directorate H&S JCC and Housing, Regeneration and Public 

Realm Directorate H&S JCC identified that the documents had not been reviewed within the past year. The 

ToRs were last reviewed in June 2017 and August 2017 respectively. 

ToRs for the Corporate Resources H&S JCC and Community Services H&S JCC could not be provided. It is 

noted that the reason for the Community Services H&S JCC ToR being unavailable was due to the 

SharePoint site where the document was held being inaccessible. In addition, the Chief Executive 

Directorate was formed in July 2020. However, a Directorate H&S JCC has not yet been formed. 

Where Directorate H&S JCC do not have documented ToR or the terms are not regularly reviewed, there is 

a risk that committee members and key stakeholders do not have a common understanding of the scope, 

objectives and operational processes of the committee. This could result in duplication of work or 

committees not fulfilling their responsibilities. In addition, where directorate JCCs are not formed and regular 

meetings held, there is a risk that accidents and incidents within the directorate are not monitored. This 

could result in H&S improvements not being carried out to reduce the risk of further accidents and incidents. 

Recommendations Category 

1. The ToR for the CYP Non-Schools Directorate H&S JCC should be reviewed and 

brought to the Committee for their approval.  

2. The ToR for the Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm Directorate H&S JCC should 

be reviewed and brought to the Committee for their approval.  

3. The ToR for the Corporate Resources H&S JCC should be developed. The ToR should 

set out as a minimum the role and responsibilities of the Committee, membership, 

frequency of meetings and quorum. Once developed the ToR should be approved by the 

Committee. The ToR should be reviewed and approved annually. 

4. If the ToR for the Community Services H&S JCC cannot be located, the terms should 

developed. The ToR should set out as a minimum the role and responsibilities of the 

Committee, membership, frequency of meetings and quorum. Once developed the ToR 

should be approved by the Committee.  

If the ToR is located and it is identified that it has not been reviewed in the past year, the 

ToR should be reviewed and brought to the Committee for their approval. Going forward, 

the ToR should be reviewed and approved annually. 

5. Assigning an appropriate management nominee to head up a Chief Executive JCC 

should be added to the agenda of the next meeting of the Corporate H&S Board. 

Medium 

Management Response 

Action 02.1 – Agreed 

Action 02.2 - Agreed - The ToR will be reviewed and circulated for the next HRPR JCC in April, for approval. 

Action 02.3 - Agreed 

Action 02.4 - Agreed - A review of the ToR has been added to the agenda of the next meeting of the 

Community Services H&S JCC 

Action 02.5 – Agreed 

Page 26



Findings and Management Action Plan for Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate 
2021/22-29 Audit 

8 
 

Ref Agreed Actions Action Owner  Due date 

02.1 

 

The ToR for the CYP Non-Schools Directorate H&S JCC 

will be reviewed and brought to the Committee for their 

approval.  

Head of Service 30/04/22 

02.2 

 

The ToR for the Housing, Regeneration and Public 

Realm Directorate H&S JCC will be reviewed and 

brought to the Committee for their approval.  

Director 30/04/22 

02.3 

 

The ToR for the Corporate Resources H&S JCC will be 

developed. The ToR will set out as a minimum the role 

and responsibilities of the Committee, membership, 

frequency of meetings and quorum. Once developed the 

ToR will be approved by the Committee. The ToR will be 

reviewed and approved annually. 

Head of Service 30/04/22 

02.4 

 

If the ToR for the Community Services H&S JCC cannot 

be located, the terms will be developed. The ToR will set 

out as a minimum the role and responsibilities of the 

Committee, membership, frequency of meetings and 

quorum. Once developed the ToR will be approved by 

the Committee.  

If the ToR is located and it is identified that it has not 

been reviewed in the past year, the ToR will be reviewed 

and brought to the Committee for their approval. Going 

forward, the ToR will be reviewed and approved 

annually. 

Director 30/04/22 

02.5 

 

Assigning an appropriate management nominee to head 

up a Chief Executive JCC will be added to agenda of the 

next meeting of the Corporate H&S Board. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

30/04/22 

  

3 Finding - Compliance with Health & Safety Regulations and Managing Risks  

Maintaining Water Risk Assessment Remedial Tracker 

In accordance with the Water Systems Safety Policy & Management Plan, a water systems risk assessment 

will be carried out biennially at each operational property. Compliance Inspectors from the Corporate Health 

& Safety Team are required to record the date of risk assessments along with remedial actions from the 

assessments on a remedial tracker. They are required to follow-up with responsible officers as part of 

quarterly compliance checks to verify that remedial actions have been completed in a timely manner. 

A review of the legionella risk assessment for five properties identified for one (Evelyn Community Centre) 

which was carried out on 28 January 2021 that the remedial actions (two high priority and one medium 

priority) from the risk assessment were not recorded on the remedial tracker. Therefore, it was not possible 

to confirm whether the remedial actions arising from the risk assessment had been completed or not. 

Where remedial actions from legionella risk assessments are not recorded and followed-up with responsible 

officers to confirm their completion, there is a risk that the remedial actions will not be completed in a timely 

manner or at all. This could result in ineffective water system H&S arrangements. 

 

 

Page 27



Findings and Management Action Plan for Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate 
2021/22-29 Audit 

9 
 

Recommendation Category 

Management should regularly review the water risk assessment remedial tracker to ensure 

that it is being maintained and updated promptly. The date of review and the officer that 

carried out the review should be recorded.  

The remedial actions from the Evelyn Community Centre legionella risk assessment carried 

out on 28 January 2021 should be recorded on the remedial tracker. As part of the next 

compliance check of the property, assurance should be obtained that the remedial actions 

have been completed in full. 

Medium 

Management Response 

Agreed 

Ref Agreed Actions Action Owner  Due date 

03.1 

 

Management will review the water risk assessment 

remedial tracker quarterly to ensure that it is being 

maintained and updated promptly. The name of the 

officer that carried out the review and date of review will 

be recorded on the tracker spreadsheet. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

31/05/22 

03.2 

 

The remedial actions from the Evelyn Community Centre 

legionella risk assessment carried out on 28 January 

2021 will be recorded on the remedial tracker. As part of 

the next compliance check of the property, assurance will 

be obtained that the remedial actions have been 

completed in full. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

31/03/22 

  

4 Finding - Monitoring of H&S Compliance and Review of Controls   

Health and Safety Audits and Compliance Checks 

In accordance with management procedures, the Corporate Health and Safety Team (CHS Team) is 

required to implement, maintain and monitor an annual risk based audit plan for all directorates. The audit 

plan will comprise a mixture of full audits and self-assessment audits for services in the directorates.  

In addition, the CHS Team is required to carry out quarterly health and safety (H&S) compliance checks for 

key H&S risks across operational properties of the corporate estate. 

It was identified that the last H&S self-assessment and full audit programme was carried out in the financial 

year 2018/19. It is noted that a H&S self-assessment audit survey for 2021/22 was developed and issued to 

service teams in January 2021. The deadline for completion of the survey is 18 March 2022. Discussions 

with the CHS Team and Compliance Manager identified that the stalling of the audit programme was due to 

the COVID-19 pandemic and the Health & Safety Manager was not replaced until September 2020 when the 

Compliance Team and the CHS Team aligned. 

Compliance checks are carried out by two officers from the CHS Team. These checks are recorded on a 

spreadsheet that is organised according to calendar years. Due to one of the officers being unavoidably 

absent for quarters three and four of the calendar year 2021, H&S compliance checks could not be carried 

out for all operational properties in the corporate estate. However, it was identified that high and medium risk 

rated properties were not prioritised for a quarterly compliance check over low risk properties. For quarter 

three, compliance checks could only be carried out for 60 out of 91 (66%) of corporate buildings. Of the 31 

quarterly compliance checks that were not carried out, one was a high risk rated property and 28 were 

medium risk rated properties. Of the 60 compliance checks that were carried out, 22 were for low risk rated 

properties. In addition, none of these 31 properties had a compliance check carried out in quarter four.  

Page 28



Findings and Management Action Plan for Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate 
2021/22-29 Audit 

10 
 

For quarter four (up to 15 December 2021), compliance checks were carried out for 42 out of 91 (46%) of 

corporate buildings. Of the 49 quarterly compliance checks that were not carried out, four were for high risk 

rated properties.  

Where an annual programme of H&S self-assessments and full audits is not carried out, there is a risk that 

service teams with inadequate H&S arrangements are not identified and monitored effectively to ensure 

compliance with the Council's H&S policies and procedures. Failure of service teams to comply with H&S 

policies and procedures could result in injuries to staff and visitors to Council properties, and compensation 

payments. Not prioritising high and medium risk rated properties over low risk rated properties for 

compliance checks when resources were limited, has resulted in failure to provide assurance over the 

adequacy of H&S arrangements in place for properties rated as high and medium risk, which could lead to 

those properties having significant impact on the Council for H&S failures. 

Recommendation Category 

Upon completion of the H&S self-assessment audits, the CHT Team should carry out a 

targeted audit programme of full H&S audits.  

Going forward, if there are insufficient resources to carry out the planned quarterly 

compliance checks of operational properties in the corporate estate, high and medium risk 

rated properties should be prioritised over low risk rated properties. 

High 

Management Response 

Agreed 

Ref Agreed Actions Action Owner  Due date 

04.1 

 

Upon completion of the H&S self-assessment audits, the 

CHT Team will review the returns and develop a targeted 

audit programme of full H&S audits. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

30/06/22 

04.2 

 

If there are insufficient resources to carry out planned 

quarterly compliance checks of all operational properties 

in the corporate estate, high and medium risk rated 

properties will be prioritised over low risk rated. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

Complete 

  

5 Finding - Monitoring of H&S Compliance and Review of Controls   

Compliance Checks of Properties 

In accordance with management procedures, the key health and safety (H&S) risks related to property (e.g. 

fire, first aid, electrics, gas, water, chemicals, physical hazards, work stations, signage etc.) are checked as 

part of the Corporate Health & Safety Team (CHS Team) statutory compliance checks. Compliance 

Inspectors are required to record the results of compliance checks on a standard checklist containing 

approximately 50 items. 

In addition, in accordance with the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012, Approved Code of Practice and 

Guidance, the Council has a duty to ensure that information about the location and condition of any asbestos 

or any such substance, is provided to every person liable to disturb it, such as building contractors. Premises 

officers / building managers are required to give a copy of the asbestos risk assessment and management 

survey to contractors working in Council operational properties and for obtaining a signed acknowledgement 

from the contractor that a copy of the asbestos risk assessment and management survey has been 

provided. 

 

Page 29



Findings and Management Action Plan for Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate 
2021/22-29 Audit 

11 
 

For the period March 2020 - August 2021, the CHS Team was unable to carry out physical inspections of 

operational buildings due to local procedures to manage the spread of the COVID-19 virus in Council 

properties. Consequently, remote methods were used such as checking of fire and electrical certificates held 

on TF Cloud (an IT system maintained by Facilities Management to which Compliance Inspectors have 

access) to obtain assurance that H&S Standards were being maintained.  

For the period when remote checks were carried out, there was no requirement to record the results of 

compliance checks on a standard checklist. Instead, the checks were recorded directly onto relevant 

trackers (spreadsheets). However, it was identified that since physical compliance inspections restarted in 

September 2021, Compliance Inspectors have not restarted completing the standard checklist. As the 

standard checklist was not completed, it was not possible to confirm that all required compliance checks 

were carried out as part of the inspections. 

A review of the standard checklist and discussions with officers from the CHS Team identified that 

compliance checks are not carried out for first aid and glazing H&S risks. Discussions with the CHS Team 

and Compliance Manager identified that a review of first aid arrangements does not come under the remit of 

compliance checking. 

It was also identified that Compliance Inspectors are not checking that premises officers / building managers 

are correctly maintaining an asbestos sign sheet (on which contractors acknowledge that they have been 

provided with the asbestos risk assessment and management survey) as part of the quarterly compliance 

checks carried out by the CHS Team. 

Where a standard checklist for quarterly compliance checks which covers all key H&S risks for workplace 

buildings is not completed, there is a risk that the adequacy of controls in place for all key H&S risks relating 

to property are not tested as part of the compliance checks. This could result in failure to identify non-

compliance with legislation, or Council H&S policies and procedures, and action not being taken to rectify 

the non-compliance. In addition, where Compliance Inspectors do not check that an asbestos sign sheet is 

in place for each property, there is a risk that an asbestos sign sheet is not being used or being used 

correctly. This could result in the Council being unable to provide evidence (for example in the event of a 

legal claim for damages from a contractor due to exposure to asbestos) that building contractors were 

provided with a copy of the asbestos risk assessment and management survey prior to commencing work. 

Recommendation Category 

As part of statutory compliance checks, assurance should be obtained and recorded that: 

adequate H&S arrangements are in place for glazing risks; and building managers are 

maintaining an asbestos sign sheet (on which contractors acknowledge that they have been 

provided with the asbestos risk assessment and management survey) 

The standard H&S checklist should be completed for each property during every quarterly 

compliance check and the results of the compliance checks recorded in the trackers 

maintained by the CHS Team. 

Management procedure - M1 Audit Requirements should be updated with the up to date list 

of property related risks that are checked as part of the quarterly compliance checks. 

Medium 

Management Response 

Agreed - Maintaining an asbestos sign site is checked and highlighted to site where possible but it is not 

recorded on the asbestos tracker. However, it is the Responsible Person or deputy to ensure the contractor 

confirms viewing the asbestos information prior to commencing work.  

As part of quarterly checks Inspectors can view if glazing is safe. 

Inspectors are completing the H&S checklist again. Going forward, we are considering changing the process 

of bringing the laptop on site and recording the results of the inspections directly onto relevant trackers. 

 

Page 30



Findings and Management Action Plan for Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate 
2021/22-29 Audit 

12 
 

Ref Agreed Actions Action Owner  Due date 

05.1 

 

As part of statutory compliance checks, assurance will be 

obtained and recorded that:  

 Adequate H&S arrangements are in place for glazing 

risks; and  

 Building managers are maintaining an asbestos sign 

sheet (on which contractors acknowledge that they 

have been provided with the asbestos risk 

assessment and management survey). 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

31/07/22 

05.2 

 

The standard H&S checklist will be completed for each 

property during every quarterly compliance check and 

the results of the compliance checks recorded in the 

trackers maintained by the CHS Team. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

Complete 

05.3 

 

Management procedure - M1 Audit Requirements will be 

updated with the up to date list of property related risks 

reviewed as part of the quarterly compliance checks. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

31/05/22 

  

6 Finding - Monitoring of H&S Compliance and Review of Controls   

Assurance that Remedial Actions have been Completed  

Upon completion of quarterly H&S property compliance checks, Compliance Inspectors are required to 

feedback any areas of non-compliance to responsible officers along with remedial actions / 

recommendations for improvement. Assurance should be obtained that areas of non-compliance identified in 

compliance checks are rectified in a timely manner. 

Testing of quarterly compliance checks for 10 properties identified for all 10 properties that areas of non-

compliance were recorded on the planned preventative maintenance (PPM) tracker. However, for all 10 

properties there was no evidence recorded on the tracker that feedback of non-compliance was 

communicated to the responsible officer. It was identified that feedback of non-compliance was usually 

communicated to the responsible officer through email. 

It was also identified for three of the 10 properties tested that the remedial actions arising out of compliance 

checks carried out in April 2021 had not been completed. Evidence was provided that the Compliance 

Inspector had communicated the remedial actions required to the responsible officer. However, a response 

was not received. It was also identified that these cases were not escalated to a more senior officer to 

receive an update on the progress of the remedial actions. 

Where evidence is not recorded and retained on file that areas of non-compliance is feedback to responsible 

officers, there is a lack of transparency and accountability in the monitoring process. In addition, where non-

responses to requests for remedial actions are not escalated to senior officers, there is a risk that remedial 

actions are not carried out in a timely manner or at all. This could result in ineffective controls for preventing 

accidents and incidents in Council properties. 

Recommendation Category 

The date on which areas of non-compliance and remedial actions are communicated to 

responsible officers should be recorded on the PPM tracker along with the date of response 

from the responsible officer. 

Procedures should be developed, documented and implemented for dealing with cases 

where responsible officers do not respond to requests for updates on remedial actions. 

Medium 

Page 31



Findings and Management Action Plan for Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate 
2021/22-29 Audit 

13 
 

Management Response 

Agreed - action 06.1 has already been implemented. 

Ref Agreed Actions Action Owner  Due date 

06.1 

 

The date on which areas of non-compliance and 

remedial actions are communicated to responsible 

officers will be recorded on the PPM tracker along with 

the date of response from the responsible officer. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

Complete 

06.2 

 

Procedures for escalating cases where responsible 

officers do not respond to requests for updates on 

remedial actions will be discussed and agreed with the 

Head of Facilities Management. Once the procedures 

have been agreed they will be documented and 

communicated to relevant officers. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

30/04/22 

  

7 Finding - Monitoring and Reporting  

Meetings of Health & Safety Committees and Board 

Health and safety (H&S) arrangements in the Council are directed and controlled by the H&S Committee, 

Corporate H&S Board and Directorate H&S Joint Consultative Committees (JCC). The H&S Committee is 

required to meet three times per year. The H&S Board and Directorate H&S JCC are required to meet 

quarterly. Each Directorate H&S JCC management nominee reports to the H&S Board on their H&S JCC 

discussions, and minutes of the meetings are presented to councillors at the H&S Committee. For each 

meeting of the H&S Committees and Board, adequate meeting minutes are required to be taken and 

retained in a shared location such as SharePoint.  

In accordance with management procedures, at least once in each financial year, the Corporate Health and 

Safety Team (CHS Team) must prepare a management review report for the Corporate H&S Board and 

Executive Management Team (EMT). In addition, the Corporate H&S Board must procure external audits to 

monitor the Council’s H&S performance on its selected occupational H&S standard (BS OHSAS 18001). 

A review of the last four meetings of the H&S Committees and Board identified the following exceptions: 

 H&S Committee - H&S Committee meetings were suspended in March 2020 due to revised governance 

arrangements introduced at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Council's governance 

arrangements have since reverted back to normal. However, a review of the Council committee meetings 

calendar identified that no meetings of the H&S Committee were scheduled for the financial year 

2021/22. The last meeting of the Committee was on 4 November 2019. 

 Corporate H&S Board - For one meeting in July 2021 no minutes were taken due to a staffing issue. 

 Corporate Resources JCC - Minutes of one meeting held in July 2021 could not be provided. A review of 

the minutes for three meetings of the JCC identified: 

 For all three meetings formal minutes were not taken. Instead brief email notes were distributed; 

 For one meeting it was not recorded in the minutes that the minutes of the previous meeting were 

reviewed to confirm their accuracy; 

 For two meetings those in attendance were not recorded; and 

 For one meeting it was not recorded that the actions from previous meetings were discussed to 

confirm that they had been completed. In addition, for the same meeting it was not recorded who 

the agreed actions from the meeting were assigned to. 

Page 32



Findings and Management Action Plan for Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate 
2021/22-29 Audit 

14 
 

 CYP non-schools JCC - A review of the minutes for four meetings identified for all four meetings that it 

was not recorded that the previous meeting minutes were reviewed and agreed. 

 Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm JCC - A review of the minutes for four meetings identified for 

three meetings that it was not recorded that the actions from previous meetings were discussed at the 

start of the meeting to confirm that the actions had been completed. 

In addition, it was identified that: 

 An annual management review report was not prepared and presented to the Corporate H&S Board and 

EMT covering the financial year 2020/21. Discussions with the CHS Team and Compliance Manager 

identified that the reason no report was presented was because an audit programme for 2020/21 was not 

carried out due to the COVID-19 pandemic and there was no CHS Team in post; and 

 A recent external audit has not been carried out to monitor the Council’s H&S performance in respect of 

its selected occupational H&S standard. 

Where a regular meeting of the H&S Committee is not held, there is a risk that H&S matters raised with 

councillors by members of the public coming into Council owned buildings are not communicated to relevant 

officers. This could result in H&S improvements not being carried out to reduce the risk of further accidents 

and incidents. Where minutes of H&S Committees and Board are not taken or there is no evidence that 

minutes were taken, could result in a lack of transparency and accountability in the decision making and 

monitoring process. Where previous meeting minutes are not reviewed at the proceeding meeting, there is a 

risk that errors in the minutes are not identified and corrected. In addition, where actions from previous 

meetings are not discussed at the next meeting, there is a risk that actions are not completed in a timely 

manner or at all. 

In addition, where an annual management review report is not prepared and presented to the CHS Team 

and EMT, there is a risk that officers accountable for H&S in the Council are not provided with assurance 

that H&S management systems are up to date, adequate, and operating effectively. This could result in 

senior management failing to take adequate actions to change or improve ineffective H&S management 

systems. Where a regular external audit is not carried out to monitor the Council's H&S performance in 

respect of its selected occupational H&S standard, there is a risk that poor H&S performance is not 

identified. This could further result in the failure of management to take timely action to improve 

performance. 

Recommendations Category 

1. Liaise with Committee Services to schedule further meetings of the H&S Committee. 

Meetings of the Committee should be in accordance with the terms of reference. 

2. For future meetings of the H&S Board, minutes should be taken and retained in a shared 

location such as SharePoint. If the regular minute taker is not available to attend the 

meeting, an officer in attendance should take the minutes. 

3. For future meetings of the Corporate Resources JCC formal minutes should be taken 

and retained in a shared location such as SharePoint. The minutes should record as a 

minimum: attendees at the meeting, review of previous meeting minutes, follow up of 

actions from previous meetings, where actions are agreed the officer assigned to 

complete the action; reports presented, discussions and any decisions made. 

4. For future meetings of the CYP non schools JCC a standing item should be added to the 

agenda and recorded in the minutes that previous meeting minutes have been reviewed 

by attendees and are agreed. If any errors are identified these should be corrected. 

5. For future meetings of the Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm JCC, a review of 

the action tracker should be added as a standing item to the agenda and recorded in the 

minutes that actions raised in previous meetings are followed up. 

 

High 

Page 33



Findings and Management Action Plan for Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate 
2021/22-29 Audit 

15 
 

6. A copy of minutes and reports presented to the H&S Board and all Directorate JCC 

should be held by the Corporate H&S Team in a shared location such as SharePoint. A 

copy of the meeting minutes of each Directorate JCC should be presented at each 

meeting of the H&S Committee. 

7. Ensure that an annual management review report is prepared and presented to both the 

Corporate H&S Board and EMT. The content of the report should be in line with the H&S 

management review procedures. 

8. External audit to monitor the Council’s H&S performance in respect of its selected 

occupational H&S standard (BS OHSAS 18001) should be added to the agenda of the 

next Corporate H&S Board meeting. The Board should decide on the date for the next 

external audit and the frequency of future external audits. 

Management Response 

Action 07.1 - Agreed - the process for the re-commencement of the H&S Committee has already begun. 

Action 07.2 - Agreed - minutes of the H&S Board meetings will be taken by one of the Executive Support 

Officers who supports the Corporate Resources Directorate. 

Action 07.3 - Agreed 

Action 07.4 - Agreed 

Action 07.5 - Agreed - An action tracker is used as standard at the HRPR H&S JCC meetings and is 

reviewed at every meeting. 

Action 07.6 - 07.8 – Agreed 

Ref Agreed Actions Action Owner  Due date 

07.1 

 

We will liaise with Committee Services to schedule 

further meetings of the H&S Committee. Going forward 

meetings of the Committee will be in accordance with the 

Committee terms of reference. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

30/04/22 

07.2 

 

For future meetings of the H&S Board, minutes will be 

taken and retained in a shared location. If the regular 

minute taker is not available to attend the meeting, an 

officer in attendance will be selected at the start of the 

meeting to take the minutes. 

Executive Support 

Manager - Corporate 

Resources 

Complete 

07.3 

 

For future meetings of the Corporate Resources JCC 

formal minutes will be taken and retained in a shared 

location. The minutes will record as a minimum: 

attendees, review of previous meeting minutes, follow up 

of actions from previous meetings, where actions are 

agreed the officers assigned to complete the actions; 

discussions and any decisions made. 

Head of Service 30/04/22 

07.4 

 

For future meetings of the CYP non-schools JCC a 

standing item will be added to the agenda and recorded 

in the minutes that previous meeting minutes have been 

reviewed by attendees and are agreed. If any errors are 

identified these will be corrected. 

Head of Service 30/04/22 

07.5 

 

For future meetings of the Housing, Regeneration and 

Public Realm JCC, it will be recorded in the meeting 

minutes that the action tracker is reviewed. 

Director 30/04/22 

Page 34



Findings and Management Action Plan for Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate 
2021/22-29 Audit 

16 
 

Ref Agreed Actions Action Owner  Due date 

07.6 

 

A copy of minutes and reports presented to the H&S 

Board and all Directorate JCC will be held by the 

Corporate H&S Team. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

30/04/22 

07.7 

 

Upon completion of the 2022 audit programme, a 

management review report will be prepared and 

presented to both the Corporate H&S Board and EMT. 

The content of the report will be in line with the H&S 

management review procedures. 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

31/01/23 

07.8 

 

External audit to monitor the Council’s H&S performance 

in respect of its selected occupational H&S standard (BS 

OHSAS 18001) will be added to the agenda of the next 

Corporate H&S Board meeting. The Board will decide on 

the date for the next external audit and the frequency of 

future external audits. 

 

Corporate Health & 

Safety Team and 

Compliance Manager 

30/04/22 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



 

Terms of Reference As Issued  
 

17 
 

Audit Area   Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate - 2021/22-29   

Directorate   Corporate Resources (COR) 

Auditor   Martin Doyle, Principal Auditor 

Date of Issue 03/12/21 

1. Background and Objective of the Service 

Lewisham Council has a duty to protect the health and safety (H&S) of its employees, 

contractors and members of the public who visit corporate properties. The Health and Safety 

at Work Act 1974 (HSW Act) is the primary legislation covering occupational health and 

safety in Great Britain. It sets out the general duties which employers have towards 

employees and members of the public; employees have to themselves and to each other; 

and certain self-employed have towards themselves and others. 

The Council's Health & Safety Board is responsible for ensuring the principles set out in the 

Statement of Intent (an organisation's affirmation that it will comply with the HSW Act) are 

put into practice. The H&S Board: 

 Sets the H&S priorities for the Council, 

 Assesses and monitors the standards to which H&S is being managed, and 

 Ensures effective governance arrangements are in place to support necessary 

consultation and decision making in respect of H&S matters. 

It is the responsibility of executive directors and directors to manage compliance with all 

health, safety and welfare issues in their directorate. Depending on the activities of the 

directorate, in certain specific areas of H&S a ‘First Point of Contact’ may be identified for 

managing particular H&S risks. 

The Corporate Health & Safety Team (CHST) is responsible for the Council’s H&S 

framework (the H&S Manual), providing professional advice on H&S matters, and managing 

the work of assurance and reporting to ensure H&S standards are maintained.   

CHST carries out a programme of H&S inspections and audits, identifying any breach, or 

potential breach, of H&S standards for the Council's approximately 94 operational buildings. 

CHST does not carry out inspections or audits of local authority maintained schools, Council 

social housing, temporary accommodation or commercial properties i.e. properties that the 

Council leases out for rent. The Council has engaged a third party, Arcus, to carry out 

compliance checks of areas which require specialist knowledge and expertise such as for 

asbestos, fire safety and water systems. 

Where inspections identify H&S remedial work that is required to bring properties up to the 

expected standard, a recommendation is raised with Facility Management or the building 

manager to carry out the work. CHST does not have a budget for remedial work.  

Within each service the CHST monitors H&S risks based upon six key groupings (workplace, 

job specific, chemical & hazardous waste, work activity & equipment, occupational health 

and welfare and H&S management). This audit will focus on the process and procedures for 

the achievement of risk management objectives in workplace and H&S management. 

For the period March 2020 - August 2021, CHST was unable to carry out audits and physical 

inspections of some operational buildings due to local procedures to manage the COVID-19 

virus in Council properties. For these properties, remote methods were used such as 

checking of fire and electrical certificates to obtain assurance that H&S standards were 

being maintained. 

Page 36



 
 

18 
 

The objectives of CHST relating to workplace and H&S management are: 

 Ensuring that H&S legislation is correctly interpreted into practice in the activities of the 

Council through reviewing and updating the H&S manual (policies, procedures and 

guidance); 

 Obtaining assurance that H&S standards of the Council's operational properties is being 

maintained; and 

 Co-ordinating and reporting pertinent management information e.g. accident statistics, 

reportable incidents. 

2. Purpose of the Review 

The purpose of this internal audit is to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the controls 

in place to achieve the objectives of the service. If applicable, Internal Audit will make 

recommendations to management on how to improve the control framework. 

3. Limitations to the Audit  

As noted in the background section, this audit will focus on the risk groupings for workplace 

and H&S management. Managing risk for the risk groupings job specific, chemical & 

hazardous waste, work activity & equipment, and occupational health and welfare will not be 

covered.  

In addition, this audit will only focus on the H&S risk management processes for operational 
Council buildings. A review of risk management processes for local authority maintained 
schools, social housing and commercial buildings will not be covered. A review of risk 
management processes for temporary accommodation is covered in the Procurement and 
Health & Safety of Temporary Accommodation and Private Sector Leasing 2021/22 audit. 

 

4. Processes and Associated Risks 
 

1 Governance 
 

Where the Council’s governance arrangements for managing H&S are not clearly set out, 

there is a risk that the roles and responsibilities for effectively overseeing and managing 

H&S in Council properties are not established and communicated. This could result in failure 

to comply with statutory requirements, ineffective H&S management and ultimately failure to 

adequately protect employees, contractors or members of the public from potential injury. 

 

2 Compliance with Health & Safety Regulations and Managing Risks 
 

Where risk assessments are not carried out and potential and actual H&S risks are not 

identified, there is a risk that insufficient and/or inadequate controls are put in place to 

protect the H&S of employees and other visitors to Council buildings. This could result in 

injuries to employees, contractors or members of the public. 

 

3 Monitoring of H&S Compliance and Review of Controls  
 

Where independent reviews are not undertaken to assess H&S compliance and 

implementation of remedial actions, there is a risk of non-compliance with H&S regulations 

and ineffective controls to protect users of corporate properties may not be identified. In 

addition to injury, this could result in enforcement action by the Health and Safety Executive 

and associated reputational damage to the Council. 

 
 

Page 37



 
 

19 
 

4 Monitoring and Reporting 
 

Where compliance with H&S standards are not regularly reported to the H&S Board, there is 

a risk that poor performance in the achievement of H&S standards and protecting the H&S of 

users of Council properties are not identified and improvement action may not be taken. This 

could result in compensation claims for injuries and increased insurance premiums. 

 

5. Areas to be Reviewed 

1. Governance  

To evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the processes in place for: 

 The governance framework for H&S; 

 Establishing and communication of roles and responsibilities for H&S; 

 Developing, reviewing and approval of terms of reference for H&S Boards and 

Committees; 

 Producing a reporting framework for reporting to the H&S Board, Committees and 

Executive Management Team (EMT); 

 Developing, reviewing and approval of a H&S policy; and 

 Developing, reviewing and communicating arrangements for H&S. 

2. Compliance with H&S Legislation and Managing Risks 

To evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the processes and procedures in place for: 

 Carrying out and review of risk assessments; 

 Implementing controls to avoid or reduce H&S risks; 

 Communicating risks to employees and users of Council properties; 

 Developing and communicating emergency procedures;  

 Carrying out remedial work resulting from risk assessments; and 

 Adherence to the duty to manage asbestos and control of legionella regulations. 

3. Monitoring of H&S Compliance and Review of Controls  

To evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the processes and procedures in place for: 

 Maintaining a list of Council properties whether owned, leased from a third party or 

leased to a third party that the Council has a duty to maintain for H&S purposes; 

 Recording who is responsible for maintaining H&S Standards in each Council property; 

 Timely carrying out of inspections and audits of Council properties for H&S compliance; 

 Recording results of inspections and audits and feeding back the results to building 

managers; 

 Other methods used during the pandemic to obtain assurance that the Council's H&S 

standards are being maintained; 

 Obtaining assurance that remedial work to bring Council buildings up to standard is 

carried out in a timely manner and to the required quality standard; and 

 

 

Page 38



 
 

20 
 

4. Monitoring and Reporting 

To evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the processes and procedures in place for:·

  

 Accuracy and timeliness of reporting to relevant Boards and Committees on the 

achievement of H&S objectives; 

 Producing minutes which include actions of Board and Committee meetings;  

 Producing and communicating an annual Management Review report;  

 Producing and communicating an annual statement of regulatory compliance; and 

 Commissioning an external audit to monitor the Council’s H&S performance in respect of 

its selected H&S standard. 

6. Distribution list 

Asset Compliance Manager - 

Audit Sponsor  
Paul Innaurato 

Head of Facilities Management Brian Colyer 

Executive Director for Corporate 

Resources 
Kathy Freeman 

Interim Head of Audit  Christine Webster 

 

7. Milestone Dates 

Audit Start Date 18/07/21 

Expected End Date 17/01/22 

Expected Draft Report Date 11/02/22 

Expected Final Report Date 28/02/22 

 

8. Declaration  

The auditor(s) have declared in relation to this review, that they have no known impairments 

to their independence, that they will remain impartial throughout the review and have no 

conflicts of interest. 

Page 39



Explanations for assurance opinions and recommendations 

21 
 

Explanations for Assurance Opinion  

Each ‘assurance’ internal audit review is assessed with an opinion on the standard of 

controls in place based on the fieldwork conducted.  The following table explains: 

Assurance Opinion  Definition  

Substantial A strong framework of controls is in place to ensure that the service 

area is likely to achieve its objectives.  The controls in place are 

consistently applied or with only minor lapses.  

Satisfactory  A sufficient framework of controls is in place, but could be 

strengthened to improve the likelihood of the service area achieving 

its objectives. The controls in place are applied, but with lapses.  

Limited  There are insufficient controls in place. This increases the likelihood 

of the service area not achieving its objectives.  Where controls do 

exist, they are not consistently applied.   

No Assurance  The framework of controls is inadequate.  This significantly 

increases the likelihood that the service area will not achieve its 

objectives.  Where controls do exist, they are not applied.   

 

Definition of Category of Finding 

Internal Audit rates each finding as High, Medium or Low.  This rating indicates to 

management the risk exposure from issues identified in the audit and the importance of 

implementing actions associated with the finding.   

Rating Definition 

High It is crucial that actions are completed. This will ensure that the service area will 

significantly reduce the risk of not meeting its objectives.    

Medium Completion of this action should be as soon as possible, to improve the 

likelihood of the service area meeting its objective. 

Low  Completion of this action would enhance control or improve efficiency.   

 

Update your Actions - link to site 

If you need to provide an update on progress towards completing your High and Medium 

actions please click here 

This report is prepared solely for the use of senior management and members of Lewisham Council.  This report should not be 

quoted or referred to in whole or in part without the prior consent in writing of the Head of Assurance, London Borough of 

Lewisham. This internal audit was conducted in line with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. The findings and 

conclusions are based on the results of testing carried out within the scope of the Terms of Reference at the time of the audit, 

and were reached on the understanding that : 

- Service management is responsible for the design and operation of internal controls within the Council. 

- The matters raised in this report are only those that came to our attention during the course of our internal audit work. 

- Our internal audit work does not provide an absolute assurance that material errors or fraud do not exist and as such 

should not be considered as a substitute for management controls.   

Page 40

https://lewishamcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Risk/InternalAudit/LBLManagement/Lists/ActionTracking/MyActions.aspx

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes 4 November 2019

	2 Declaration of Interest
	3 Corporate Health  Safety Team Update
	4 Health & Safety Checks for the Corporate Estate Internal Audit Progress Update
	Health and Safety Checks for the Final Estate


